PLANNING COMMITTEE

At a Meeting of the Planning Committee held in Civic Space, 16 Church Street, Dumbarton on Wednesday 20 September 2023 at 10.00 a.m.

Present: Councillors Karen Murray Conaghan, Ian Dickson, Daniel

Lennie, June McKay, Lawrence O'Neill, Chris Pollock, Hazel

Sorrell and Sophie Traynor.

Attending: Pamela Clifford, Planning, Building Standards and

Environmental Health Manager; Alan Williamson, Team Leader, Development Planning and Place; James McColl, Development Management Team Leader; Amy Melkevik, Lead Planning Officer; Joshua Doyle, Placemaking Co-ordinator; Matthew Spurway, Development Planning and Place Officer; Gail MacFarlane, Chief Officer - Roads and Neighbourhood; Craig

Jardine, Corporate Asset Manager; John Kerr, Housing

Development and Homelessness Manager; Nigel Ettles, Section

Head - Litigation (Legal Officer) and Nicola Moorcroft,

Committee Officer.

Apologies: Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Provost

Douglas McAllister and Councillor Gurpreet Singh Johal.

Councillor Lawrence O'Neill in the Chair

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Lawrence O'Neill, declared an interest in the item under the heading DC23/083/FUL – Proposed erection of 27 affordable dwellings and associated works at development site at Former Faifley Bowling Club, Clydebank by Knowes Housing Association, being a member of the Knowes Housing Association Committee and intimated that he would leave the meeting during consideration of that item.

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Minutes of Meeting of the Planning Committee held on 2 August 2023 were submitted and approved as a correct record.

OPEN FORUM

The Committee noted that no open forum questions had been submitted by members of the public.

NOTE OF SITE VISITATION

A Note of Visitation carried out on 31 July 2023, a copy of which forms Appendix 1 hereto, was submitted and noted.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS

A report was submitted by the Planning, Building Standards and Environmental Health Manager in respect of the following Planning applications:-

(a) DC23/098/FUL – New build education and community campus comprising of new Early Years, Primary schools, ASN unit, library and community facilities, together with associated parking, sports facilities and landscaping at St. Joseph's Primary School, Faifley Road, Clydebank, G81 5EY by West Dunbartonshire Council.

Reference was made to a site visit which had been undertaken in respect of the above application. After discussion and having heard the Planning, Building Standards and Environmental Health Manager, the Chief Officer - Roads and Neighbourhood, the Corporate Asset Manager and the Placemaking Co-ordinator in further explanation, and in answer to Members' questions, the Committee agreed to grant planning permission subject the conditions set out in Section 9 of the report, an amendment to condition 17 and two further conditions relating to EV Charging points and the design of floodlights, as detailed within Appendix 2 hereto.

ADJOURNMENT

The Chair adjourned the meeting for a short recess. The meeting reconvened at 11.30 a.m. with all those listed in the sederunt present.

Councillor O'Neill, having earlier declared an interest in the following item of business, left the meeting at this point.

APPOINTMENT OF TEMPORARY CHAIR

Having heard the Legal Officer in relation to the aforementioned declaration of interest by the Chair, Councillor O'Neill, the Committee agreed to appoint a temporary Chair from amongst those Members present at the meeting. It was agreed that Councillor Sophie Traynor would chair the meeting for the undernoted item of

business. Accordingly, Councillor Traynor assumed the Chair for the undernoted item of business only.

Councillor Sophie Traynor in the Chair

(b) DC23/083/FUL – Proposed erection of 27 affordable dwellings and associated works at development site at Former Faifley Bowling Club, Clydebank by Knowes Housing Association

Reference was made to a site visit which had been undertaken in respect of the above application. After discussion and having heard the Planning, Building Standards and Environmental Health Manager, the Development Management Team Leader and the Chief Officer – Roads and Neighbourhood in further explanation, and in answer to Members' questions, the Committee agreed to grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out in Section 9 of the report, with an additional condition relating to the monitoring of parking on the site, as detailed within Appendix 3 hereto.

Note: Councillor O'Neill re-entered the meeting at this point.

Councillor Lawrence O'Neill in the Chair

(c) DC23/102/FUL- Proposed erection of 26 dwellings with associated ancillary development at development site, Pappert, Bonhill, Alexandria by West Dunbartonshire Council (Housing)

Reference was made to a site visit which had been undertaken in respect of the above application. After discussion and having heard the Planning, Building Standards and Environmental Health Manager, the Team Leader – Development Management and the Housing Development and Homelessness Manager; in further explanation, and in answer to Members' questions, the Committee agreed to grant planning permission subject to the conditions set out in Section 9 of the report, as detailed within Appendix 4 hereto.

(d) DC23/070/FUL- Change of use from cafe to tyre change garage at 6 Old Street, Duntocher, Clydebank G81 6DE by Mr Peter Ferrier.

Reference was made to a site visit which had been undertaken in respect of the above application. After discussion and having heard the Lead Planning Officer in further explanation, and in answer to Members' questions, the Committee agreed to refuse planning permission for the reasons set out in Section 9 of the report, as detailed within Appendix 5 hereto.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN SCHEME AND PARTICIPATION STATEMENT FOR LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 3

A report was submitted by the Planning, Building Standards and Environmental Health Manager, seeking approval for a consultation draft Development Plan Scheme and Participation Statement in relation to a new Local Development Plan (LDP3).

After discussion and having heard the Team Leader, Development Planning and Place in further explanation and in answer to Members' questions, the Committee agreed the publication of the consultation draft Development Plan Scheme and Participation Statement out in Appendix 1 of the report.

INVITATION TO MAKE LOCAL PLACE PLAN

A report was submitted by the Planning, Building Standards and Environmental Health Manager, seeking approval for an approach to Local Place Plans, which will deliver new duties arising from the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019.

After discussion and having heard the Development Planning and Place Officer in further explanation, the Committee agreed:-

- (1) to the approach to Local Place Plans as set out in the report and gave authority to Officers to issue the invitation to prepare Local Place Plans to communities; and
- (2) that Officers would submit a burden item for members consideration in setting the 2024-25 budget for the preparation of Local Place Plans.

The meeting closed at 12.34 p.m.

PLANNING COMMITTEE

NOTE OF VISITATION – 31 JULY 2023

Present: Councillor Ian Dickson

Attending: James McColl - Development Management Team Leader and

Amy Melkevik, Lead Planning Officer

SITE VISIT

A site visit was undertaken in connection with the undernoted planning application:-

Land to East of Broomhill Wood, Bonhill, Alexandria

DC22/190/FUL - Erection of single wind turbine, 30m hub and 43m tip, access track, substation, agricultural shed and associated works by Mr Harris Smith.

DC23/098/FUL – New build education and community campus comprising of new Early Years, Primary schools, ASN unit, library and community facilities, together with associated parking, sports facilities and landscaping at St. Joseph's Primary School, Faifley Road, Clydebank, G81 5EY by West Dunbartonshire Council.

GRANT full planning permission subject to the following conditions:-

- 1. The external materials to be used in the construction of the building hereby permitted shall accord with the details set out on approved drawing FC-HML-01-ZZ-D-A-48100 Rev PO3 and no substitutes shall be used without the prior written agreement of the Planning Authority.
- 2. Further to Condition 1 above, prior to the approved brickwork associated with the building hereby permitted being constructed on site, a sample panel of this brickwork shall be constructed on site in order for it and the associated mortar to be reviewed, inspected and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, the development shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved brick details.
- 3. Prior to the commencement of development on site, full details of all hard surfaces shall be submitted for the further written approval of the Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any unit within the development.
- 4. The phasing of the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the phasing details hereby approved and following the commencement of works on site, the development phasing will be undertaken on a continuous basis until completion, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Planning Authority.
- 5. Notwithstanding the approved plans, all recommendations within the Ecological Constraints Survey and Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment dated 1st December 2022 shall be followed. Further survey work undertaken shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site and implemented as approved.
- 6. Notwithstanding condition 5 above and for the absolute avoidance of doubt, a minimum of two bat activity surveys (dusk and dawn) shall be undertaken in the activity season immediately preceding the demolition of the existing building on site. The survey results shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to any demolition commencing on site.

- 7. Notwithstanding condition 5 above, no site clearance works shall be undertaken during any phase during the bird-nesting season March to September inclusive unless first agreed in writing by the Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, any such agreement will require a full nesting bird survey prior to the commencement of works on site, the methodology and findings of which shall be submitted to the Planning Authority.
- 8. The approved hard and soft landscaping and all associated approved planting details shall be implemented within a timescale to be agreed with the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of works on site.
- 9. Notwithstanding the approved plans, full details of the proposed planting schedule, inclusive of proposed tree planting on a two for one basis relative to those being removed, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site and shall be implemented with a timescale to be agreed with the Planning Authority.
- 10. That any trees, shrubs or areas of grass which die, are removed, damaged or become diseased within five years of completion of the landscaping shall be replaced within the following year with others of a similar size and species.
- 11. That full details of maintenance and management for the landscaping approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the new building hereby permitted. Management and maintenance shall commence upon completion of the landscaping.
- 12. Details of the management and operation of the community allotments shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the new building hereby permitted. Management and operation shall then be undertaken in accordance with the approved details at all times thereafter.
- 13. Notwithstanding the submitted details, that prior to the commencement of works on site, a final drainage regime inclusive of maintenance arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The drainage regime shall then be implemented and maintained thereafter. For the avoidance of doubt, the drainage regime shall be implemented commensurately with the construction of the development.
- 14. That all surface water shall be intercepted within the site both during construction and on completion of the development and full details of measures to ensure that surface water run-off is contained within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing ty the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site. The measures shall be implemented and maintained as approved.

- 15. That prior to the commencement of works on site, a bird hazard management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority in consultation with Glasgow Airport. The submitted plan shall include:
 - Management of any flat / shallow pitched / green roofs on buildings within the site which may be attractive to nesting, roosting and loafing of birds.
 The management plan shall comply with Advice Note 8: Potential Bird Hazards from Building Design.

The Bird Hazard Management Plan shall be implemented as approved and on completion of the development shall remain in force for the lifetime of the development. No subsequent alterations to the plan are to take place unless first submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority in consultation with Glasgow Airport.

16. No development shall take place until full details of soft and water-landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Details shall comply with Advice Note 3: Potential Bird Hazards from Amenity Landscaping and Building Design. These details shall include the species, number and spacing of shrubs and trees.

No subsequent alterations to the approved landscaping scheme are to take place unless submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority in consultation with Glasgow Airport. The scheme shall also be implemented as approved.

- 17. The noise mitigation requirements detailed in the Noise Impact Assessment Report no. 7355-05-00 Rev 00 and Report no. 7355-04-00 dated 7 June 2023 and 3 May 2023 relating to plant and mechanical services and sport pitch shall be implemented in full, namely:
 - The roof top plant compounds shall have compliant plant screens as barriers that is having no gaps at the foot or between panels and a lifetime surface density of 10kg/m².
 - The sports pitch shall not be used outwith the hours of 8am to 9pm daily.
 - The sports pitch shall have rubber vibration reducers between the weldmesh fencing panels to reduce ball impact noise.
- 18. All plant and equipment (including any ventilation system) to be installed or operated shall be enclosed, attenuated and/or maintained such that any noise there from shall not exceed International Standards Organisation (ISO) Noise Rating 35 between 0700 and 2300 hours daily, within any nearby residential property, with windows slightly open for ventilation, when measured and/or calculated and plotted on an ISO rating curve chart.

- 19. In the event that the sports pitch floodlighting requires to operate outwith the hours of 8am to 8pm of use of the sports pitch set out in condition 17 above, it shall be switched off by 10pm.
- 20. During the period of construction, all works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary (or at such other place(s) as may first be agreed in writing with the Planning Authority), shall be carried out between the following hours unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority:

Mondays to Fridays: 0800 – 1800

• Saturdays: 0800 – 1300

Sundays and public holidays: No Working

- 21. No commercial vehicle making deliveries to or collecting material from the development during construction shall enter or leave the site before 0800 or after 1800.
- 22. No piling works shall be carried out until a method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. This statement shall include an assessment of the impact of the piling on surrounding properties, taking into account the guidance contained in BS 6472: 1984 'Evaluation of Human Response to Vibration in Buildings'. It shall detail any procedures which are proposed to minimise the impact of noise and vibration on the occupants of surrounding properties. This statement shall be prepared by a suitably qualified person, and the piling works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement.
- 23. Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority, no development shall commence on site until such time as a scheme for the control and mitigation of dust has been submitted to and approved in writing by this Authority. The scheme shall identify likely sources of dust arising from the development or its construction, and shall identify measures to prevent or limit the occurrence and impact of such dust. The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented fully prior to any of the identified dust generating activities commencing on site and shall be maintained thereafter, unless otherwise approved by this Authority.
- 24. The approved remediation scheme shall be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Planning Authority. The Planning Authority shall be notified in writing of the intended commencement of remediation works not less than 14 days before these works commence on site. Upon completion of the remediation works and prior to the site being occupied, a verification report which demonstrates the effectiveness of the completed remediation works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

- 25. The presence of any previously unexpected contamination that becomes evident during the development of the site shall be reported to the Planning Authority in writing within one week, and work on the site shall cease. At this stage, if requested by the Planning Authority, an appropriate investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken and a remediation scheme shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of site works. The approved details shall be implemented as approved.
- 26. If there is a requirement to either re-use site won material or to import material then the assessment criteria and sampling frequency that would adequately demonstrate its suitability for use shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to any material being re-used or imported. In addition to this and in accordance with BS3882:2015 and BS8601:2013, material to be used in the top 300mm shall also be free from metals, plastic, wood, glass, tarmac, paper and odours. On completion of the works and at a time and or phasing agreed by the Planning Authority, the developer shall submit a validation report containing details of the source of the material and associated test results to demonstrate its suitability for use.
- 27. That prior to the new building being brought into use, a Travel Plan for the site shall be undertaken and submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. This shall include what initiatives will be brought forward in the future to ensure the achievement of a meaningful switch away from the private car inclusive of staff travel. Any agreed actions and measures shall be implemented.
- 28. No development shall commence within the development site outlined in red on the approved plan until the developer has secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant, agreed with West of Scotland Archaeological Service and approved by the Planning Authority. Thereafter the developer shall ensure that the programme of archaeological works is fully implemented and that all recording and recovery or archaeological resources within the development site is undertaken.
- 29 EV Charging Points
- 30. Floodlights

DC23/083/FUL – Proposed erection of 27 affordable dwellings and associated works at development site at Former Faifley Bowling Club, Clydebank by Knowes Housing Association.

GRANT full planning permission subject to the following conditions:-

- 1. Prior to the commencement of development on site, exact details, specifications and samples of all proposed external materials to be used for the houses within the development site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, all facing bricks to be used shall be good quality clay bricks. Thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, the development shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved material details and palette.
- 2. Further to Condition 1 above, prior to the approved brickwork associated with any house being constructed or installed on site, a sample panel of this brickwork shall be constructed on site in order for it and the associated mortar to be reviewed, inspected and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, the development shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved brick details.
- 3. That prior to the commencement of works on site full details of the timescale for the phasing of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Works shall then proceed as approved unless an alternative timescale is first agreed in writing by the Planning Authority.
- 4. Prior to the commencement of development on site, full details of all hard surfaces shall be submitted for the further written approval of the Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be proceed in accordance with the approved details.
- 5. Prior to the commencement of development on site, a detailed soft landscaping plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, the development shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved plan.
- 6. Prior to the commencement of development on site, a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan setting out how the proposal enhances biodiversity beyond the current baseline, together with the implementation on site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. All measures shall then be implemented as approved. Thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, the development shall be completed in accordance with the approved plan.

- 7. The approved hard and soft landscaping and all associated approved planting details shall be implemented within a timescale to be agreed with the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of works on site.
- 8. That any trees, shrubs or areas of grass which die, are removed, damaged or become diseased within five years of completion of the landscaping shall be replaced within the following year with others of a similar size and species.
- 9. Full details of the form, management, operation and timescale for completion on site of the community allotments, community gardens and play space or any alternative form of community space developed following the results of a community consultation shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the first dwellinghouse hereby permitted. Management and operation shall then be undertaken in accordance with the approved details at all times thereafter.
- 10. In addition to the water survey submitted with the application, a follow up water vole survey shall be undertaken and submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. All recommendations shall then be implemented as approved.
- 11. All recommendations within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated 18th May 2023, the Bat Activity Surveys dated July 20223, shall be implemented. This shall include all required further survey work identified as being required for badgers. This further survey work undertaken shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site and implemented as approved.
- 12. Prior to the commencement of development on site, details of the design and location of cycle storage shall be submitted for the further written approval of the Planning Authority and the development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any housing unit within the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority.
- 13. That prior to each house hereby permitted being occupied, all new roads and footways leading to it shall be surfaced to a sealed base course.
- 14. That within 4 weeks of the last of the houses hereby permitted being completed, all roads and footways within the application site shall be completed to a final wearing course.
- 15. That prior to the occupation of any house, the off-street parking provision shall be completed and be available for use by residents of the associated house. The off-street parking provision shall be then remain unobstructed and available for use by residents of the associated house at all times thereafter.
- 16. All on street parking and visitor parking spaces shall be formed commensurately with the development of the houses that they serve.

- 17. That prior to the commencement of works on site, full details of the proposed drainage regime inclusive of calculations and overland flow details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The drainage regime shall then be implemented and maintained thereafter. For the avoidance of doubt, the drainage regime shall be implemented commensurately with the construction of the houses it serves.
- 18. That all surface water shall be intercepted within the site both during construction and on completion of the development and full details of measures to ensure that surface water run-off is contained within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing to the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site. The measures shall be implemented and maintained as approved.
- 19. No site clearance works shall be undertaken during the bird nesting season March to September inclusive unless first agreed in writing by the Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, any such agreement will require a full nesting bird survey prior to the commencement of works on site, the methodology and findings of which shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority and shall be implemented as approved.
- 20. Prior to the commencement of development on site, details of the location and design of electric charging points/units and associated infrastructure and ducting to serve the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The approved car charging points/units/ducting and associated infrastructure shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved details at a timescale agreed by the Planning Authority and maintained at all times thereafter.
- 21. Prior to the occupation of the first house within the site, the developer shall install the necessary infrastructure to enable the full development and all associated properties to be connected to the existing fibre optic network, where available in West Dunbartonshire, and in accordance with the relevant telecommunications provider's standards.
- 22. Prior to the commencement of works on site, details of any street furniture inclusive of grit bins and telecommunications cabinets shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Development shall then proceed as approved.
- 23. No house shall be occupied until the contents of a Travel Information Pack which encourages reduced dependency on the private car by highlighting the location of local amenities, public transport services and active travel routes is submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, on the occupation of each dwelling, the approved Travel Information Pack shall be provided to new residents.
- 24. Prior to the commencement of any works on site, full details of the incorporation of photovoltaic panels shall be submitted to and approved in

writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.

- 25. The presence of any previously unexpected contamination that becomes evident during the development of the site shall be reported to the Planning Authority in writing within one week, and work on the site shall cease. At this stage, if requested by the Planning Authority, an appropriate investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken and a remediation scheme shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of site works. The approved details shall be implemented as approved.
- 26. If there is a requirement to either re-use site won material or to import material then the assessment criteria and sampling frequency that would adequately demonstrate its suitability for use shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to any material being re-used or imported. In addition to this and in accordance with BS3882:2015 and BS8601:2013, material to be used in the top 300mm shall also be free from metals, plastic, wood, glass, tarmac, paper and odours.

On completion of the works and at a time and/or phasing agreed by the Planning Authority, the developer shall submit a validation report containing details of the source of the material and associated test results to demonstrate its suitability for use.

27. During the period of construction, all works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary (or at such other place(s) as may first be agreed in writing with the Planning Authority), shall be carried out between the following hours unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority:

Mondays to Fridays: 0800 – 1800

Saturdays: 0800 – 1300

Sundays and public holidays: No Working

- 28. Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority, no development shall commence on site until such time as a scheme for the control and mitigation of dust has been submitted to and approved in writing by this Authority. The scheme shall identify likely sources of dust arising from the development or its construction, and shall identify measures to prevent or limit the occurrence and impact of such dust. The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented fully prior to any of the identified dust generating activities commencing on site and shall be maintained thereafter, unless otherwise approved by this Authority.
- 29. No commercial vehicle making deliveries to or collecting material from the development during construction shall enter or leave the site before 0800 or after 1800.

30. No piling works shall be carried out until a method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. This statement shall include an assessment of the impact of the piling on surrounding properties, taking into account the guidance contained in BS 6472: 1984 'Evaluation of Human Response to Vibration in Buildings'. It shall detail any procedures which are proposed to minimise the impact of noise and vibration on the occupants of surrounding properties. This statement shall be prepared by a suitably qualified person, and the piling works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement.

31. Review of parking and parking survey



DC23/102/FUL- Proposed erection of 26 dwellings with associated ancillary development at development site, Pappert, Bonhill, Alexandria by West Dunbartonshire Council (Housing).

GRANT full planning permission subject to the following conditions:-

- 1. Prior to the commencement of development on site, exact details, specifications and samples of all proposed external materials to be used within the development site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt no consent is granted for the brick samples submitted prior to determination and all facing bricks to be used shall be good quality clay bricks. Thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, the development shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved material details and palette.
- 2. Further to Condition 1 above, prior to the approved brickwork associated with any house being constructed or installed on site, a sample panel of this brickwork shall be constructed on site in order for it and the associated mortar to be reviewed, inspected and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority, the development shall be completed in strict accordance with the approved brick details.
- 3. That prior to the commencement of works on site, full details of the timescale for the build-out of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Works shall then proceed as approved unless an alternative timescale is first agreed in writing by the Planning Authority.
- 4. Prior to the commencement of development on site, full details of all hard surfaces shall be submitted for the further written approval of the Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be proceed in accordance with the approved details.
- 5. Prior to the commencement of development on site, details of the design and location of cycle storage shall be submitted for the further written approval of the Planning Authority and the development shall thereafter be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any house within the development, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Planning Authority.
- 6. Notwithstanding the approved plans, all recommendations within the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal dated 18th May 2023 shall be followed. This shall include all required further survey work identified as being required for badgers. Further survey work undertaken shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site and implemented as approved.

- 7. Notwithstanding the approved plans and condition 6 above, and prior to the commencement of works on site, a further submission which demonstrates an understanding on how the proposal enhances biodiversity beyond the current baseline including any adjustments to the approved landscaping proposals together with the implementation on site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. All measures shall then be implemented as approved.
- 8. The approved hard and soft landscaping and all associated approved planting details shall be implemented within a timescale to be agreed with the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of works on site.
- 9. Notwithstanding the approved plans, an updated planting schedule to incorporate a variety of tree types throughout the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site and shall be implemented with a timescale to be agreed with the Planning Authority.
- 10. That any trees, shrubs or areas of grass which die, are removed, damaged or become diseased within five years of completion of the landscaping shall be replaced within the following year with others of a similar size and species.
- 11. That full details of maintenance and management for the landscaping approved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the occupation of the first dwellinghouse hereby permitted. Management and maintenance shall commence upon completion of the landscaping.
- 12. Prior to commencement of any works on site, a site management scheme for construction traffic as recommended within the submitted Transport Statement, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Planning Authority and thereafter shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme.
- 13. That prior to each house hereby permitted being occupied, all new roads and footways leading to it shall be surfaced to a sealed base course.
- 14. That within 4 weeks of the last of the houses hereby permitted being completed, all roads and footways within the application site shall be completed to a final wearing course.
- 15. That prior to the occupation of any house, the off-street parking provision shall be completed and be available for use by residents of the associated house. The off-street parking provision shall then remain unobstructed and available for use by residents of the associated house at all times thereafter.
- 16. The additional parking provided on Pappert shall be constructed and made available for use by local residents prior to the removal of the existing parking area opposite no's 127 to 131 Pappert.

- 17. That prior to the commencement of works on site, full details of the proposed drainage regime inclusive of calculations and overland flow details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The drainage regime shall then be implemented and maintained thereafter. For the avoidance of doubt, the drainage regime shall be implemented commensurately with the construction of the houses it serves.
- 18. That all surface water shall be intercepted within the site both during construction and on completion of the development and full details of measures to ensure that surface water run-off is contained within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any works on site. The measures shall be implemented and maintained as approved.
- 19. Prior to the commencement of development with the site, details of the number, location and design of electric charging points/units and associated infrastructure and ducting to serve the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The approved car charging points/units/ducting and associated infrastructure shall thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved details in a timescale agreed by the Planning Authority and maintained at all times thereafter.
- 20. Prior to the occupation of the first house within the site, the developer shall install the necessary infrastructure to enable the full development and all associated properties to be connected to the existing fibre optic network, where available in West Dunbartonshire, and in accordance with the relevant telecommunications provider's standards.
- 21. Prior to the commencement of works on site, details of any street furniture inclusive of grit bins and telecommunications cabinets shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Development shall then proceed as approved.
- 22. No house shall be occupied until the contents of a Travel Information Pack which encourages reduced dependency on the private car by highlighting the location of local amenities, public transport services and active travel routes is submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Thereafter, on the occupation of each dwelling, the approved Travel Information Pack shall be provided to new residents.
- 23. The presence of any previously unexpected contamination that becomes evident during the development of the site shall be reported to the Planning Authority in writing within one week, and work on the site shall cease. At this stage, if requested by the Planning Authority, an appropriate investigation and risk assessment shall be undertaken and a remediation scheme shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to the recommencement of site works. The approved details shall be implemented as approved.

- 24. If there is a requirement to either re-use site won material or to import material then the assessment criteria and sampling frequency that would adequately demonstrate its suitability for use shall be submitted to and approved by the Planning Authority prior to any material being re-used or imported. In addition to this and in accordance with BS3882:2015 and BS8601:2013, material to be used in the top 300mm shall also be free from metals, plastic, wood, glass, tarmac, paper and odours.
- 25. On completion of the works and at a time and or phasing agreed by the Planning Authority, the developer shall submit a validation report containing details of the source of the material and associated test results to demonstrate its suitability for use.
- 26. No development shall take place on site until such time as a noise impact assessment in respect of the proposed air source heat pumps has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. This noise impact assessment shall include an assessment of the potential for the proposed heat pumps to cause noise nuisance affecting both the new houses hereby permitted together with existing adjacent properties. Where potential noise disturbance is identified, proposals for the attenuation of that noise shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. Any such approved noise attenuation scheme shall be implemented prior to the development being brought into use and shall thereafter be retained in accordance with the approved scheme. Should the approved noise attenuation scheme impose restrictions upon the way in which operations on the site are carried out, the site shall be operated in this manner unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The noise impact assessment and any recommendations in respect of attenuation measures shall be prepared by a suitably qualified person.
- 27. Prior to the site being occupied the applicant shall have a third party independent verifier submit a verification report to the satisfaction of the Planning Authority. Compliance with the relevant condition shall be evidenced in the report. This shall demonstrate that the projections as detailed within Noise Impact Assessment are reliable and meet with Noise Impact Assessment condition.
- 28. No development shall commence on site until such time as a noise control method statement for the construction period has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. This statement shall identify likely sources of noise (including specific noisy operations and items of plant/machinery), the anticipated duration of any particularly noisy phases of the construction works, and details of the proposed means of limiting the impact of these noise-sensitive properties. The construction works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority.
- 29. During the period of construction, all works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary (or at such other place(s) as may first be agreed in writing with the Planning Authority), shall be carried out between the

following hours unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority:

Mondays to Fridays: 0800 – 1800

Saturdays: 0800 – 1300

Sundays and public holidays: No Working

- 30. No commercial vehicle making deliveries to or collecting material from the development during construction shall enter or leave the site before 0800 or after 1800.
- 31. No piling works shall be carried out until a method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. This statement shall include an assessment of the impact of the piling on surrounding properties, taking into account the guidance contained in BS 6472: 1984 'Evaluation of Human Response to Vibration in Buildings'. It shall detail any procedures which are proposed to minimise the impact of noise and vibration on the occupants of surrounding properties. This statement shall be prepared by a suitably qualified person, and the piling works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved method statement.
- 32. Unless otherwise approved in writing by the Planning Authority, no development shall commence on site until such time as a scheme for the control and mitigation of dust has been submitted to and approved in writing by this Authority. The scheme shall identify likely sources of dust arising from the development or its construction, and shall identify measures to prevent or limit the occurrence and impact of such dust. The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented fully prior to any of the identified dust generating activities commencing on site and shall be maintained thereafter, unless otherwise approved by this Authority.
- 33. No development shall commence on site until details for the storage and the collection of waste arising from the development has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The agreed details shall be in place prior the occupation of the first housing unit/property within the site and thereafter maintained for the lifetime of the development.

DC23/070/FUL- Change of use from cafe to tyre change garage at 6 Old Street, Duntocher, Clydebank G81 6DE by Mr Peter Ferrier.

REFUSE planning permission subject to the following conditions:-

- 1. The proposal would result in the siting of a Class 5 (General Industrial) use tyre changing garage within an existing residential area. No supporting information has been submitted in terms of what other sites have been considered and why the proposal could not be accommodated within an existing business and industrial area as defined by the adopted Local Plan and proposed Local Development Plan 2. Accordingly the proposal is not supported by Policy 26(d) (i) of NPF4 together with Policy LE 3 of the adopted West Dunbartonshire Local Plan.
- 2. The proposal would not result in significant overall economic benefit to the local area and therefore the proposal is not supported by Policy LE3 of the adopted Local Plan.
- 3. The proposal is incompatible with established residential amenity due to the potential for noise disturbance to occur to the detriment of adjacent residential properties. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policies, 9, 23(e) and 26(d)(ii) of NPF4, Policies GD1, H5 and LE3 of the adopted Local Plan and policies CP1 and H4 of the proposed Local Development Plan 2.